67805

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.

RALEIGH PORTER

Appellant,

-vs-

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM DENIAL OF MOTION TO VACATE BY THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR CHARLOTTE COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KIMBRELL & HAMANN, P.A. SUITE 900 BRICKELL CENTRE 799 BRICKELL PLAZA MIAMI, FLORIDA 33131

Of Counsel

#

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Raleigh Porter was indicted and sentenced to death for the murder of Harry Walrath and Margaret Walrath.

Mr. Porter's conviction was affirmed by this Court on direct appeal. *Porter v. State*, 400 So.2d 5 (Fla. 1981). This Court vacated Mr. Porter's sentence and remanded for resentencing. On remand Mr. Porter was again sentenced to death. That sentence was affirmed by this Court on January 27, 1983. *Porter v. State*, 429 So.2d 293 (Fla. 1983).

On March 16, 1984, Mr. Porter appeared before the Board of Executive Clemency. On September 30, 1985, the Governor denied clemency and signed a death warrant. Mr. Porter then filed a motion pursuant to Rule 3.850, which was denied without an evidentiary hearing. This appeal followed.

### STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

The present case involves the deaths of Harry Walrath and Margaret Walrath. The evidence was "sufficient to find that Porter caused the Walrath's deaths while he was engaged in the crime of robbery".

Porter v. State, 400 So.2d at 6.

Mr. Porter was arrested for the Walrath homicides on August 22, 1978, the day after the crime.

Mr. Porter made no statements to the police. During the booking process, the police Porter's hands, presumably photographed Mr. comparison with a fingernail found at the scene of the The fingernail was sent to the police crime lab for comparison with a known fingernail sample of Mr. the Porter. but laboratory analysis was conducted. (R. 639-41).

Three days after Mr. Porter's arrest, the police obtained a statement from one Matha Lee Thomas, then a prisoner in the Charlotte County Jail. (R. 646-47). Thomas testified that he was in the jail when Mr. Porter was brought in and that the two had talked. According to Thomas, Porter told him that he had killed the two victims. He first hit the old man and knocked him down. He then hit the old lady and knocked her down, according to Thomas' account of the conversation. (R. 645-46). Mr. Porter was then said to have told Thomas that he strangled the two victims with a cord. (R. 645).

At the time of Thomas' statement to the police, Mr. Porter's appointed counsel, Stephen B. Widmeyer,

The abbreviation "R" refers to the record on direct appeal to this court. The abbreviation "RP" refers to the roord of the present postconviction proceeding brought present to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850.

also represented Thomas on an unrelated criminal action on charges of uttering a forged instrument. Widmeyer eventually withdrew his representation of Thomas, recognizing a conflict between Thomas and Porter. Widmeyer continued to represent Mr. Porter, however, and therefore cross-examined Thomas, Widmeyer's former client, at the capital trial of Mr. Porter.

The remaining evidence linking Mr. Porter to the crime came from accessories who therefore were interested witnesses. That evidence is summarized below.

Tammy Lloyd testified that she lived with Mr. Porter at Pelican Bay on August 21, 1978. (R. 558-560). She had been staying with another man who had beaten her baby, so she moved in with Mr. Porter after having known him about three weeks. Dinah Raymond also lived there. (R. 560-561).

Mr. Porter came home from work about 4:00 or 5:00 on August 21. (R. 560) Ms. Lloyd and Ms. Raymond took Mr. Porter to a stop sign somewhere in Port Charlotte where Mr. Porter got out of the car. He had told Ms. Lloyd that he was going to commit a burglary. (R. 561, 562). She and Ms. Raymond went to the Burger King for a couple of minutes, then returned to the apartment. (R. 562, 563).

Mr. Porter came home around 10:00 or 10:30. He said he got a car and some other things. Ms. Lloyd identified exhibit four, the photographs of the Walrath's car, as the car Mr. Porter brought back. (R. 565). They rode to the store in the car, then drove past the house Mr. Porter said he broke into. She saw the police at the house. (R. 564, 569). They returned home.

Ms. Lloyd identified exhibit five as jewelry Mr. Porter gave her. He said he got it from the house he broke into. She turned it over to the police on August 22. (R. 564-566). Mr. Porter also took a television and some silverware. (R. 566). Mr. Porter told her he killed two old people. (R. 567) The next morning Ms. Lloyd, Ms. Raymond, their babies and Mr. Porter went to Fort Myers to get rid of some coins. (R. 567).

On August 22, Ms. Lloyd denied that she knew Mr. Porter when she was approached by police at the apartment. Then she told the police that Mr. Porter was her cousin but did not live there. She gave another statement to the police because she was afraid of losing her baby and going to jail. (R. 569, 570) She told the detective Mr. Porter left the house alone.

Larry Schapp, Mr. Porter's former roommate, testified that he went to Mr. Porter's apartment around

6:00 p.m. on August 21 to do his laundry and take Mr. Porter some clothes. No one was there, so Schapp let himself in with a key. (R. 571-573) Mr. Porter, Ms. Raymond, and Ms. Lloyd were out shopping. They came back shortly after 6:00. (R. 574, 578) Shortly afterwards Mr. Porter left again with the two women. Ms. Raymond and Ms. Lloyd returned without Mr. Porter before Schapp left around 7:00. (R. 573, 574).

Schapp went to his own apartment, then to the Holiday Inn around 9:45. (R. 574) Someone came into the Holiday Inn and said that he had heard on the police band of his C.B. radio that there had been a double murder and an auto theft. Schapp had a feeling that "something might have happened with" Mr. Porter so he returned to Mr. Porter's apartment around 11:00 or 11:30. (R. 574-576) Mr. Porter was there with the women and a man named Shawn. Schapp asked whether Mr. Porter was involved in the murders. Appellant said he robbed them and killed them. (R. 576, 582).

Schapp and Shawn took a television, some silverware, and some other articles that had been taken from the house and put them in Shawn's car. They went up the road and dumped the television in the bushes.

(R. 567, 577, 579) Schapp said he helped because he was afraid of Mr. Porter. (R. 580) Schapp realized

that he made an error in judgment. He returned to the apartment on August 22 and saw the police were there. He told the police about the television and showed him where it was. (R. 577, 578, 581).

Schapp had been convicted of DWI three times. (R. 578, 579) He denied committing the murders. (R. 581) Schapp did not testify that Mr. Porter had previously told him about a plan to steal a car and kill the victims. (R. 571-582)

The State granted Dinah Raymond immunity. (R. 584, 585) She testified that she lived with Mr. Porter and Ms. Lloyd at the Pelican Cove apartments on August 21.

Ms. Raymond then went to the store, the post office, and back to the apartment around 7:30. (R. 591) She got her son ready for bed, then she went to sleep. She did not see Mr. Porter again that evening. Ms. Raymond got up the next morning at 6:45 and drove her brother, Scott Raymond, and her former boyfriend, Jamie Carrington, to work. (R. 592)

Mr. Porter did not go to work that day.

Ms. Raymond, Ms. Lloyd, Mr. Porter and the children

drove to Fort Myers to see Ms. Raymond's father. (R.

593) On the way, they stopped at a coin and stamp shop

in Cape Coral. Ms. Raymond stayed in the car while Mr.

Porter and Ms. Lloyd went in the shop. Mr. Porter did not say why he went there. (R. 594, 595) The spent most of the afternoon at the restaurant where Ms. Raymond's father lived. (R. 595) When they returned to Port Charlotte, they went to Larry's place, then back to the apartment. The police came as soon as they got back. (R. 596) Ms. Raymond told Detective Thurlin Runkle that Mr. Porter came home around 5:00 or 5:30 on Monday and left by himself about two hours later. (R. 597, 598)

She was afraid of Detective Thurlin Runkle. He threatened to take her son away and told her she could be prosecuted as an accessory. She then told him that she drove Mr. Porter. (R. 598, 599) She was told nothing would happen if she testified. (R. 599)

The press took an extraordinary interest in this case, a fact of concern to the defense which resulted in a change of venue. (R. 20-162, 175). Defense counsel was also concerned that the grand jury was tainted:

There was a large amount of publicity surrounding this crime. Apprehensive of its effect on the grand jury (which had been empaneled prior to the commission of this crime), counsel for the defendant sought the right to voir dire the grand jury. His motion asked permission to question the

individual jurors regarding their legal qualification, to inquire into the state of mind of the jurors to whether there were any discover facts that would prevent the grand jury from acting impartially and without prejudice to the rights of defendant, and to determine whether the jurors knew that a sentence of death might be imposed if the defendant were convicted of the offense sought to be charged by indictment. The trial judge denied that motion. After an indictment was returned the appellant moved to the indictment on several grounds, one of which was the judge's refusal of the requested voir dire examination. This also was denied.

# Porter v. State, 400 So.2d at 6.

The State's case at the guilt innocence trial was based both on theories of premeditation and felony murder. The jury returned a general verdict of first degree murder, not specifying which of the prosecutor's theories it had accepted and not making a finding that Mr. Porter intended the deaths of the Walrath's in advance of the felony murder. (R. 182-83).

The penalty phase of Mr. Porter's bifurcated trial commenced following the jury's verdict of guilty. In defense against the death penalty, Mr. Porter's attorney offered only the brief testimony of Mr. Porter; that testimony constitutes but one page in the transcript. (R. 744). Counsel presented no other

evidence of Mr. Porter's character or any other evidence in mitigation. After deliberating for approximately ten minutes, the jury recommended that Mr. Porter not be put to death. (R. 184-85).

Defense counsel presented no additional evidence following the jury's sentencing verdict, and the Court sentenced Mr. Porter to death. The Court found three aggravating circumstances:

- (1) The capital felonies were committed while Mr. Porter was engaged in the commission of a robbery for pecuniary gain;
- (2) The capital felonies were committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest in that Mr. Porter ab initio intended to kill the victims to allow him more time to abscond with their automobile (the prosecutor never discussed this aspect of aggravating circumstances);
- (3) Each of the murders was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel. (R. 189-91).

### **ARGUMENT**

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DISMISS-ING AT LEAST THREE OF MR. PORTER'S CLAIMS WITHOUT HOLDING AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING.

carefully delineated procedure has been Α established for consideration of motions pursuant to See State v. Weeks, 166 So.2d 892 (Fla. Rule 3.850. Under this procedure, the trial court must 1964). initially consider the motion to determine if it sets forth allegations sufficient to constitute a legal basis for relief. If the motion on its face states grounds for relief, the trial court must then look at the files and records in the case to ascertain whether they conclusively reveal that the movant is entitled to no relief. In making this determination the court may not look to matters outside the official court records.

files and records fail to When the conclusively the factual allegations in the motion, the trial court must hold a prompt hearing, determine the issues and make findings of fact and conclusions of law. See, e.g., Meeks v. State, 382 So.2d 673 (Fla. 1980); Martin v. State, 349 So.2d 226 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977); Bagley v. State, 336 So.2d 1236 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976); Brown v. State. 390 So.2d 447 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980). The same standard applies to the appellate court's review where a hearing has been denied in a 3.850 proceeding. Rule 9.140(g), Fla.R.App.P.

-10-

Mr. Porter has raised at least three claims that depend on the development of facts not contained in the existing record: (1) that trial and resentencing counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel in failing to investigate powerful and available evidence in mitigation of the penalty of death; (2) that the State obtained the indictment in bad faith by knowingly allowing an unqualified and biased grand juror to serve; (3) that trial counsel labored under an actual conflict of interest in this case. \*/ Each of these claims will be discussed in turn. First, Mr. Porter will outline the claim presented. Second, he will discuss why fair resolution of the claim requires a hearing.

<sup>\*/</sup> This discussion is not intended in any manner to concede that only these three claims required a hearing. Further investigation, without the pressure of an imminent execution date, might well reveal other claims that need further evidentiary development.

### 1. The Claim

TRIAL AND RESENTENCING COUNSEL CONDUCTED NO OR GROSSLY INADEQUATE INVESTIGATION **EVIDENCE** INTO MITIGATION OF PUNISHMENT, THEREBY DEPRIVING MR. PORTER OF AN INDIVIDUALIZED SENTENCING HEARING IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.

Trial counsel in this case, Mr. Stephen Widmeyer and Mr. Robert Jacobs, and resentencing counsel, Mr. Wayne Woodard conducted no or substantially inadequate investigation into Mr. Porter's background and social history, and consequently they were unable to present at sentencing any evidence in mitigation of punishment other than Mr. Porter's own brief testimony.  $\frac{1}{2}$ /

Had Mr. Widmeyer and Mr. Jacobs, Mr. Porter's attorneys in 1978, and Mr. Woodard, at resentencing, conducted any investigation into Mr. Porter's background, they would have discovered substantial evidence in mitigation of punishment which could and should have been presented to the jury and to the sentencing judge.

This failure to investigate continued into the proceedings conducted pursuant to the resentencing

<sup>1/</sup> Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel clearly are cognizable in a Rule 3.850 proceeding. See, e.g., Smith v. State, 400 So.2d 956 (Fla. 1981).

remand. By motion filed on July 14, 1981, counsel for Mr. Porter requested to be allowed to introduce evidence regarding the background, social history and character of Mr. Porter and the Court granted that motion.

In the motion seeking to introduce character evidence, counsel indicated that Mr. Widmeyer and Mr. Jacobs, of the same Public Defender's Office which represented Mr. Porter in the original sentencing proceeding, failed to present evidence in 1978 because their reasonable belief that Florida Statutes precluded the introduction of such evidence sentencing. But for counsel's belief in substantial evidence in mitigation of punishment could have been presented to the jury and judge.

Despite the fact that counsel on remand requested and was allowed to introduce evidence going to mitigation of punishment, counsel failed to present any evidence whatsoever in mitigation. Resentencing counsel's failure to present evidence of statutory and nonstatutory mitigating circumstances during the remand hearing resulted from their failure to conduct a reasonable investigation into mitigating circumstances.

A reasonable investigation into mitigating circumstances would have revealed powerful evidence in

mitigation of the death penalty. Raleigh Porter's history contains compelling mitigating features which were excluded from consideration by the jury and the through the inexcusable neglect of court Attached to the Motion to Vacate are counsel. affidavits and other materials outlining Mr. Porter's background and upbringing. No attempt to discover these material was made by trial counsel, consequently the image of Raleigh Porter created by the aggravating circumstances found at trial presents at best an inaccurate and incomplete portrayal of him. The sentencing jury, even without the benefit of these materials, found that death was not the appropriate punishment under the circumstances, but the trial court overrode the life recommendation.

As part of his 3.850 motion in the trial court, Mr. Porter profferred affdaivts setting out some of the information that even a superficial and hasty investigation into Mr. Porter's background would have revealed. Mr. Porter will not repeat here the factual allegations contained in Claim I of the Motion to Vacate. Our investigation, which occurred within the extremely limited time available during a Death Warrant, is yet partial and incomplete. But even this tentative exploration reveals a particularly abusive

and generally harsh and alienating childhood, physical and emotional abuse at home and in "school", and myriad other difficulties. The portrait of Raleigh's past and the psychological and societal forces which shaped his character created by these mitigating materials should and would have militated against the trial judge's imposition of the death sentence in disregard of the jury's recommendation of life. Given adequate time and resources, even more compelling mitigation could be produced by undersigned counsel.

Thus, powerful mitigating and explanatory evidence was available. Such evidence would have permitted the capital sentencer to see that Mr. Porter's actions are explained, at least in part, by the abuse, rejection and hostility of his home and institutional environments that shaped him during the most critical of his formative years. This sort of "humanizing" evidence would also have shown that there was a Raleigh Porter worth saving.

# 2. The Need For A Hearing

The United States Supreme Court in Strickland v. Washington, 104 S.Ct. 2040 (1984), stressed that "a court deciding an actual ineffectiveness claim must judge the reasonableness of counsel's challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case..." For

example, "inquiry into counsel's conversations with the defendant may be critical to a proper assessment of counsel's investigation decision..." Id Compentency of counsel can only be determined "in light of all the circumstances." Id.

The court below surely did not meet dictates. The judge who heard the 3.850 motion was not the original trial judge. Especially in a case such as this, where counsel's challenged inadequacies relate to failures to investigate, the decision regarding prejudice cannot be made without a full familiarity with the evidence and the record. Yet the court below only had the case for one day when it was dismissed, not enough time to review the trial record to determine the importance of counsel's failures as they relate to the evidence that was adduced and the real issues in the case. Accordingly, a stay should have been issued just so that the court could have performed the basic record review necessary to determine Mr. Porter's claim.

Moreover, in the absence of the evidentiary hearing, the court could not have known the extrarecord facts necessary to "judge the reasonableness of counsel's challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case..." Strickland. The evidentiary

inquiry implicitly required by Strickland dovetails with the state law requirement of a hearing. Fla. R. App. P. 9.140(q) provides that: "unless the record shows conclusively that the appellant is entitled to no relief, the order shall be reversed and the cause remanded for an evidentiary hearing." This Court has this standard in of especially applied cases ineffective asssistance of counsel, granting stays and remanding for evidentiary hearings. Meeks v. State, 382 So.2d 673, 676 (Fla. 1980). Indeed this Court has noted that ineffectiveness claims are particularly suited for evidentiary development, suggesting "even when not legally required that trial courts conduct, in most instances evidentiary hearings on this type of issue." Jones v. State, 446 So.2d. 1056, 1063 (Fla. 1984).

This issue of Mr. Porter's case is controlled by O'Callaghan v. State, 461 So.2d 1534 (Fla. 1984). The claim of ineffective assistance alleged in O'Callaghan was remarkably similar to the claim alleged by Mr. Porter:

O'Callaghan alleges, in part, that his counsel's motion for a psychiatric examination of O'Callaghan was granted, but that O'Callaghan's counsel never had the examination conducted; that O'Callaghan's counsel called no

witness in mitigation or for any purpose at the sentencing hearing; that O'Callaghan's counsel never contacted O'Callaghan's parents prior to the trial; that if his parents had been contacted counsel would have discovered that O'Callaghan suffered a harsh alienating childhood, physical and psychological abuse as a child, a serious drug problem as a teenager, and had a family history of mental illness; and that a mental professional's affidavit health asserts he exhibits likely evidence and of brain damage mental illness. We conclude that these allegations are sufficient require an evidentiary hearing the issue of ineffective assistance of counsel.

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