#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RALEIGH PORTER,

Appellant,

v.

case no. 67805

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

SID J. WHITE

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

OCT 24 1985

By LONG COURT

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY
Assistant Attorney General
1313 Tampa Street, Suite 804
Park Trammell Building
Tampa, Florida 33602
(813) 272-2670

OF COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Sergeant David Lucas was recalled and identified Exhiit 12, a composite photograph of Porter's hands and Exhibit 11, the fingernail given to him by Sergeant Enderle at the crime scene. (R 636 - 638)

Matha Lee Thomas had been in the county jail for a month and a half when Porter was brought into the jail. (R 644) Porter told him that he was charged with two counts of first degree murder and that he had killed the two people; he said he had strangled them after knocking them down. (R 645) He also said he told Tammy and Dinah about it. The witness had two felony and three or four misdemeanor convictions. (R 647)

The defendant presented no evidence. (R 648) The jury returned guilty verdicts on both counts. (R 715; 182 - 183)

At the sentencing phase, Sergeant David Allen Lucas identified Exhibits 13 and 14, photographs of the victims Mr. and Mrs. Walrath and they were admitted into evidence. (R 740 - 742)

Porter testified that he had a prior conviction for receiving stolen property, was twenty-two years old and was married with two children. He told the jury he felt like a fetus and that it was up to them to abort him or let him live. (R 743 - 7440

The prosecutor requested that he be permitted to cross-examine Porter as to all crimes he committed, not just convictions (R 745) and the court denied the request. (R 747) The state proffered that Sergeant Lucas would testify that Porter had confessed to him of prior crimes for which he had not been convicted. The court still denied such examination. (R 749)

The jury returned an advisory sentence of life imprisonment on both counts. (R 780; 184 - 185) The trial judge rejected the recommendation of the jury, and imposed the sentence of death after writing his findings in support of the death sentence. (R 787 - 792; 187 - 192)

On June 4, 1981, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed the judgments and conviction but remanded for resentencing. (SRR 1 - 7) Porter v. State, 400 So.2 d 5 (Fla. 1981). Upon remand, appellant filed a motion for continuance (RR 4) which was granted (RR 11, 17), a motion to preclude the reimposition of the death penalty (RR 6 - 8) which was denied (RR 1, 15) and a motion requesting court to permit defendant to present character

In addition, Porter apparently was given a consecutive ten year sentence following a no contest plea on an escape charge. (R 793)

and background testimony from family members prior to resentencing (RR 9-10) which was granted. (R 11, 16) Appellant filed a witness list naming Mrs. Myrtle Porter. (RR 18)

At the hearing on August 3, 1981, the prosecutor sought to call as a witness Larry Schapp and defense counel objected. (R 33 - 34) Porter introduced a copy of a notice of nolle prosequi on Matha Lee Thomas. (SRR 8; RR 34) Porter did not assert as a fact that the state made a promise with Thomas. (RR 35) Porter then called Larry Schapp as a witness. Schapp testified that he was presently undergoing treatment through an alcoholic rehabilitation program. (RR 37) A grand theft charge was dropped at the request of the victim on July 20, 1981. (RR 37, 39 - 40; SR 9) A copy of the D.W.I. charges also was introduced. (RR 40 - 41; SRR 10)

Schapp admitted that he had given a deposition on November 13, 1978 in the presence of Assistant Public Defender Widmeyer and prosecutor Berry, that he took an oath to tell the truth, and did testify truthfully in the deposition. (RR 42 - 43; see also SR 1 - 16)

Porter offered no other evidence. (RR 43) The court stated it took into account only statutory aggravating factors, took into account all (not merely statutory) mitigating circumstances which were presented to the court, would take Porter's employment into consideration. (RR 44) The trial court reimposed the sentence of death. (RR 45 - 49; 21 - 25)

### II. PORTER'S DIRECT APPEAL TO THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

On his direct appeal, Porter raised six issues:

I.

The trial court erred by denying appellant's motion to allow defense counsel to examine grand jurors on voir dire where extensive publicity created a substantial danger of bias on the part of the grand jurors.

II.

The trial court erred by finding two aggravating circumstances on the basis of "testimony" never presented at trial;, not disclosed to defense counsel prior to sentencing, and without giving appellant any opportunity to explain or deny such "testimony".

III.

The trial court erred by finding the murders especially heinous, atrocious and cruel because the circumstance underlying the court's finding were not proven beyond a reasonable doubts.

IV.

The trial court erred by rejecting appellant's youthful age and the fact that he is married and has two small children as mitigating circumstances and by using these circumstances as non-statutory aggravating circumstances to appellant's detriment.

٧.

The trial court erred by failing to consider the facts that appellant had no significant history of prior criminal activity and was gainfully employed as mitigating circumstances.

VI.

The trial court erred by sentencing appellant to death after the jury recommended that he be sentenced to life imprisonment because the facts suggesting a sentence of death were not so clear and convincing that virtually no reasonable person could differ and because imposition of a death sentence following a jury recommendation of life constitutes cruel and unusual punishment and violates both the double jeopardy and due process clause of the constitution.

On June 4, 1981, the Supreme Court of Florida affirmed the convictions but reversed the sentences because of procedural error. Porter v. State, 400 So.2d 5 (Fla. 1981).

Upon remand, the trial court re-imposed the sentence of death.

On appeal, Porter raised five issues:

I.

The trial court erred by finding three aggravating factors on the basis of circumstances which the state had not proved beyond a reasonable doubt.

II.

The trial court erred by rejecting appellant's youthful age and the fact that he is married and has two small chidren as mitigating circumstances and by using these circumstances as non-statutory aggravating circumstances to appellant's detriment.

III.

The trial court erred by failing to find as mitigating circumstances that appellant had no signficant history of prior criminal activity and was gainfully employed.

IV.

The trial court erred by sentencing appellant to death after the jury recommended that he be sentenced to life imprisonment

because the facts suggesting a sentence of death were not so clear and convincing that virtually no reasonable person could differ.

٧.

The imposition of the death sentences upon appellant after the jury recommended life imprisonment violated the constitutional guarantee against double jeopardy, deprived appellant of due process of law and subjected appellant to cruel and unusual punishment.

On January 17, 183, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed the sentences of death. <u>Porter v. State</u>, 429 So.2d 293 (Fla. 1983)

Porter sought certiorari and the United States Supreme Court denied his petition on October 3, 1983. <u>Porter v. Florida</u>, \_\_\_\_\_\_

U.S. , 78 L.Ed.2d 176.

### III. THE POST CONVICTION PROCEEDING

On October 22, 1985, Porter filed a motion for post-conviction relief pursuant to Rule 3.850 Rules of Criminal Procedure. Following argument the trial court entered an order denying relief. Porter now appeals.

#### ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF TRIAL COUNSEL CLAIM.

In <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, <u>U.S.</u>, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984), the Supreme Court announced its standard of effective assistance of counsel.

"A convicted defendant's claim that counsel's assistance was so defective as to require reversal of a conviction or death sentence has two components. First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. This requires showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. This requires showing that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable. Unless a defendant makes both showings, it cannot be said that the conviction or death sentence resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable."

(80 L.Ed.2d at 693)

The Court opined that in a claim of ineffectiveness the defendant must show that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential; every effort must be made to eliminate the distorting effect of hindsight. The Court sought to avoid encouragement to the proliferation of ineffectiveness challenges:

"Intensive scrutiny of counsel and rigid requirements for acceptable assistance could

dampen the ardor and impair the independence of defense counsel, discourage the acceptance of assigned cases and undermine the trust between attorney and client."

(80 L.Ed.2d at 695)

The Court concluded that the state courts had properly concluded the ineffectiveness claim was meritless without holding an evidentiary hearing.

The Florida Supreme Court has adopted Strickland. See Quince v. State, So.2d 10 F.L.W. 493; Lightbourne v. State, So.2d 10 F.L.W. 303 (June 3, 1985); Sireci v. State, 469 So2d 119 (Fla. 1985); Witt v. Wainwright, 465 So.2d 510 (Fla. 1985); Jackson v. State, 452 So.2d 533 (Fla. 1984); Shriner v. State, 452 So.2d 929 (Fla. 1984); Downs v. State, 453 So.2d 1102 (Fla. 1984); Dobbert v. State, 456 So.2d 424 (Fla. 1984); Adams v. State, 456 So.2d 888 (Fla. 1984); Smith v. State, 456 So.2d 1380 (Fla. 1984); Clark v. State, 460 So2.d 886 (Fla. 1984); Mikenas v. State, 460 So.2d 359 (Fla. 1984); Tafero v. State, 459 So.2d 1034 (Fla. 1984).

Porter's contentions with respect to the alleged ineffectiveness of trial counsel merely amounts to hindsight second-guessing by Porter and his most recent counsel, unhappy with the fact that trial counsel was not totally successful.

The record reflects that trial counsel filed a motion to allow defense counsel to examine grand jurors on voir dire (R 6), filed a motion to prohibit state attorney from presenting inadmissible evidence before the grand jury (R 7), filed a

motion to have grand jury proceedings reported (R 8), filed a motion to dismiss the indictment (R 12 - 160), filed a motion for change of venue (R 20 - 80), filed a second motion for change of venue (R 169 - 170), filed a motion in limine (R 178 - 179), filed a motion for new trial (R 193 - 194), filed a memorandum of law (R 199 - 201) filed several special requested instructions. (R 230 - 244) It can hardly be said that counsel failed to function as the counsel required by the Sixth Amendment; counsel ably put the state to its burden of proof, ably crossexamined witnesses and argued to the jury at both the guilt and penalty phases.

Petitioner's current complaint that counsel should have done something more or different at the penalty phase is without merit. Counsel had Raleigh Porter testify and humanized him by showing that he was married with two children. (R 744) He succeeded in persuading the trial judge that the prosecutor should not be allowed to inquire into Porter's other criminal activity (R 746 - 747) And, significantly, counsel was able to obtain for Porter a life recommendation from the jury. (R 780 - 783) That the Supreme Court of Florida ultimately concluded that a sentence of death was appropriate does not deviate from counsel's performance.

Current counsel asserts that an alternative course of

The state may negate the mitigating factor of no significant prior criminal activity without showing criminal convictions. Smith v. State, 407 So.2d 894 (Fla. 1981).

action was preferable. But there is no absolute duty to present mitigating character evidence. Stanley v. Zant, 697 So.2d 955 (11th Cir. 1983). An attorney may decide as a reasonable trial strategy not to pursue character-oriented mitigating evidence where there is a reasonable belief that the prosecutor may demonstrate contrary character evidence. Burger v. Kemp, 753 F.2d 930 (11th Cir. 1985); Knighton v. Maggio, 740 F.2d 1344 (11th Cir. 1984); Mitchell v. Kemp, 762 F.2d 886 (11th Cir. 1985).

The record reflects that trial counsel were aware that they were not limited in any way in the mitigating evidence to present. Trial counsel filed a memorandum of law urging that mitigating circumstances were not limited to those listed in the statute (R 199 - 201), and requested and were granted a special instruction to that effect. (R 231; 751, 776)

Further, after the Supreme Court's remand for resentencing, on July 14, 1981, trial counsel filed a motion requesting permission to present character and background testimony from family members. (RR 9 - 10) That motion was granted on July 15, 1981. (RR 16) Defense counsel filed a witness list naming Mrs. Myrtle Porter. (RR 18) Mrs. Porter did not testify at the resentencing proceeding of August 3, 1981 (RR 31 - 50) presumably because the defense decided not to use her. Courts should not second-guess counsel's decision on what witnesses to call to testify. Quince v. State, 5/5/85 So.2d \_\_\_, 10 F.L.W. 493; Brown v. State, 439 So.2d 872 (Fla. 1983); Magill v. State, 457 So.2d

1367 (Fla. 1984); see also <u>Messer v. Kemp</u>, 760 F.2d 1080 (11th Cir. 1985); <u>Solomon v. Kemp</u>, 735 F.2d 395 (11th Cir. 1984).

#### POINT II

GROUNDS TWO THROUGH ELEVEN RAISED IN THE LOWER COURT.

Petitioner's claims two through eleven for relief must be rejected. It is well settled that issues which were raised on direct appeal or could have been raised or should ahve been raised on direct appeal may not be considered via Rule 3.850. See Raulerson v. State, 420 So.2d 567 (Fla. 1982); Booker v. State, 441 So.2d 148 (Fla. 1983); McCrae v. State, 437 So.2d 1388 (Fla. 1983); Palmes v. State, 425 So.2d 4 (Fla. 1983); Hall v. State, 420 So.2d 872 (Fla. 1982); Smith v. State, 457 So.2d 1380 (Fla. 1984); Sireci v. State, 469 So.2d 119 (Fla. 1985). Petitioner's claims two through eleven are thus precluded from consideration now.

With respect to point two - the alleged conflict of interest by counsel Widmeyer - even if this point could be argued collaterally, it is clear that no meaningful conflict of interest impeded Widmeyer. Counsel quickly acted to withdraw from the representation of Mr. Matha Thomas, counsel ably, yet concisely cross-examined Thomas (R 646 - 648) and in fact, Thomas' testimony was cumulative to that of others regarding Porter's admissions of the crime. This point is without merit. Cf. Webb v. State, 433 So.2d 496 (Fla. 1983).

Porter's claim raised in Point 3 below regarding the attack on the grand jury member, collateral relief is unavailable. Attacks on the grand jury must be timely made or are waived. Dykman v. State, 294 So.2d 633 (Fla. 1974); Wright v. Wain-wright, 537 F.2d 224 (5th Cir. 1976); Florida Statutes 905.05; see also Davis v. United States, 411 U.S. 233, 36 L.Ed.2d 216 (1973). Porter has not demonstrated either cause for not presenting his claim earlier (he has not alleged how an attorney with due diligence could not have learned that which he now presents) and more significantly, he cannot demonstrate resulting prejudice since a grand jury only determines the sufficience to charge a crime and the petit jury has determined Porter's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Indeed, Porter does not even claim that the now challenged grand juror even voted for an indictment; or that this grand juror was related by blood or marriage to anyone.

Appellant Porter's claims that his pre-trial request to voir dire the grand jury members was considered previously by this court and this court determined the trial court's ruling to be correct. Porter v. State, 400 So.2d 5.

As to point 4 - an assertion that the jury did not make a finding of Porter's intent to kill, appellant failed to raise this issue on direct appeal; consequently relitigation is precluded. Appellee would add that the instant case is not only a felony-murder, but was also a premeditated murder. Consequently, Enmund v. Florida, 458 U.S. 782 (1982) is inapplicable. Even in felony-murder cases the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals has rejected the claim that a jury must make specific findings of intent to kill. Ross v. Kemp, 756 F.2d 1483 (11th Cir. 1985)

As to point 5 - a Witherspoon-Grigsby claim, again litigation is precluded because not raised on direct appeal. Additionally, this court has rejected the claim most recently in Witt v. State, 465 So.2d 510 (Fla. 1985) as did the United States Supreme Court. Witt v. Wainwright, 84 L.Ed.2d 801.

As to point six and seven - attacks on certain aggravating factors, these claims were discussed on the direct appeal brief and therefore may not be relitigated. If the claims were not presented in the fashion now desired, 3.850 may not be used for that purpose.

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